ADOLESCENT DEVELOPMENT: Pathways and Processes of Risk and Resilience

Bruce E. Compas, Beth R. Hinden, and Cynthia A. Gerhardt

Department of Psychology, University of Vermont, Burlington, Vermont 05405

KEY WORDS: adolescence, developmental psychology, aggression, depression

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	265
EMERGENT THEMES IN THEORY AND RESEARCH ON ADOLESCENCE	267
Models of Adolescent Development: Transactional, Interdisciplinary, and Contextual Approaches	267
Pathways and Trajectories of Development	271
Processes of Risk and Resilience	273
EXEMPLARY RESEARCH ON PROBLEMS OF ADOLESCENCE	274
Aggression and Antisocial Behavior	274
Depression During Adolescence	279
EMERGENT THEMES ON ADOLESCENT DEVELOPMENT	285
Contributions	285
Limitations	286
CONCLUSION	287

INTRODUCTION

The close of the twentieth century represents both the best of times and the worst of times for adolescents. The lay public and health professionals have gradually changed their views of adolescence from a time of inherent stress and storm to one of opportunities for growth and positive development (e.g. Feldman & Elliott 1990, Millstein et al 1993, Petersen 1988). Youth in many countries throughout the world, especially Eastern Europe, have the opportunity to grow up in and contribute to democratic societies that were unimagin-

able less than a decade ago. In stark contrast, the lives of large segments of today's adolescents in the United States and worldwide are threatened by violence, disease, poverty, and limited opportunities for the future. This is the challenging context for the psychology of adolescence—one of opportunity and of enormous responsibility.

A similar contrast can be found in the juxtaposition of research on adolescence and the status of adolescents themselves. The recent history of research and theory on adolescent development has been characterized by rapid growth. Evidence of the vitality of a psychology of adolescence is reflected in a variety of indicators, including the continued growth of a strong interdisciplinary scientific society (the Society for Research on Adolescence), the presence of several scientific journals devoted specifically to the topic (e.g. The Journal of Research on Adolescence, The Journal of Youth and Adolescence, The Journal of Adolescent Research), increased interest in this area from other scientific and professional groups (e.g. the Adolescent Medicine branch of the American Medical Association), the allocation of resources from several major foundations (e.g. the Carnegie Corporation of New York, the Johan Jacobs Foundation, the MacArthur Foundation, the William T. Grant Foundation), and concern for the well-being of adolescents expressed at the level of national policy (e.g. Dougherty 1993, United States Congress/Office of Technology Assessment 1991).

Paradoxically, the robust growth of a psychology of adolescence has been accompanied by a decline in the overall well-being and health status of adolescents. Although morbidity rates for most other age groups have declined in recent decades, adolescent morbidity has increased (Hamburg 1992). The challenges faced by today's youth are reflected in a host of problems, including adolescent suicide (Garland & Zigler 1993), depression (Petersen et al 1993), violence and death due to violence (Earls et al 1993, Hammond & Yung 1993), unplanned pregnancy (Brooks-Gunn & Paikoff 1993), substance abuse (Leventhal & Keeshan 1993), and sexually transmitted diseases (Brooks-Gunn & Paikoff 1993). Further evidence that problems of adolescence are on the rise comes from longitudinal research indicating that rates of emotional and behavioral problems of adolescents (and children) have increased over the past ten years (Achenbach & Howell 1993).

This review highlights recent developments in theory and research methods and summarizes exemplary research findings that contribute to our understanding of psychological development during the second decade of life. We begin by identifying three important themes in research and theory on adolescence: (a) the emergence of broad integrative models of adolescent development that include psychological, biological, social, and contextual factors; (b) the identification of developmental pathways or trajectories during adolescence that are linked to prior growth during childhood and subsequent adult development; and (c) the investigation of risk and protective processes that distinguish adaptive and maladaptive developmental paths in the face of adversity. We then offer a critical analysis of these themes by examining their contributions to the understanding of two important problems during adolescence—depression and aggression or antisocial behavior. Finally, we identify directions for future research that will both enhance our understanding of the nature of adolescent development and contribute to improving the quality of the lives and development of adolescents now and in the future.

EMERGENT THEMES IN THEORY AND RESEARCH ON ADOLESCENCE

As any area of scientific inquiry moves toward maturity, there is an inevitable convergence of separate lines of thinking and research. Investigators and theorists who are engaged in particular lines of study discover cross-cutting themes in their work, yielding increasingly more integrative and comprehensive models and methods than those that existed separately. There are a number of indicators that such a convergence has occurred in research on adolescent development (Zaslow & Takanishi 1993).

Models of Adolescent Development: Transactional, Interdisciplinary, and Contextual Approaches

Early attempts to conceptualize the psychology of adolescence took the form of rather straightforward main effects models. These approaches attempted to understand the significant characteristics of adolescent development as a direct function of either intrapsychic (e.g. Freud 1958), biological (e.g. Hall 1904, Kestenbaum 1968), or environmental factors. Recent attempts to conceptualize psychological development during adolescence have reflected a fundamental shift to more interdisciplinary and transactional models. We have selected three recent examples of emerging models of adolescent development that illustrate this broad perspective.

BIOPSYCHOSOCIAL MODELS Human development and behavior unfold simultaneously on multiple levels. Physical and biological maturation, including the development of the brain and the central nervous system, continue well into the adolescent decade (Brooks-Gunn & Reiter 1990). Thinking processes, such as social cognition, problem-solving skills, language capacity, and visio-spatial skills, also develop during adolescence (Harter 1990, Keating 1990). These developmental changes are accompanied by changes in the nature of the social environments in which adolescents function, as well as in their socially defined roles in these contexts (Brown 1990, Furstenberg 1990, Entwisle 1990). Recognition of the interrelatedness of these aspects of development characterizes recent biopsychosocial models of adolescent development (e.g. Brooks-Gunn 1987, Buchanan et al 1992, Crockett & Petersen 1993, Lerner & Mulkeen 1990).

One the foremost examples of biopsychosocial models can be found in recent conceptualizations of the relationship of pubertal development to behavior, cognition, emotion, and social relationships (e.g. Brooks-Gunn & Reiter 1990, Buchanan et al 1992, Paikoff & Brooks-Gunn 1991). The hormonal changes that define puberty influence growth and functioning of the brain, the central nervous system, and neurotransmitter processes within the central nervous system, and contribute to observable changes in body shape and morphology, including breast development, gonadal development, and growth of facial and pubic hair (Paikoff & Brooks-Gunn 1991).

Much of the early research on pubertal development was quite naturally concerned with charting the basic biological changes that occur in adolescents (Brooks-Gunn & Reiter 1990). More recent research has pursued a broad biopsychosocial focus in trying to define the relationship between hormonal development and changes in mood and behavior (Buchanan et al 1992), as well as the impact of pubertal development on parent-child relationships (Paikoff & Brooks-Gunn 1991), the interaction of pubertal development with social factors in contributing to adolescent sexual behavior (Rogers & Rowe 1993), and the association between hormonal changes and specific problems such as depression (e.g. Brooks-Gunn et al 1994) and aggression (e.g. Susman et al 1987). Furthermore, these recent efforts have investigated the reciprocal and interactive relationships of hormonal changes with other aspects of cognitive, emotional, behavioral, and interpersonal development (e.g. Belsky et al 1991, Steinberg 1988, Trickett & Putnam 1993).

The association of pubertal development with mood and behavior has represented one of the most active areas of integrative research. The evidence suggests that hormonal changes are linked to mood and behavior, although these relations are complex and the data often inconsistent (Buchanan et al 1992, Crockett & Petersen 1993, Richards & Larson 1993). The links between hormones and mood or behavior appear to differ for boys and girls, with age, for different types of hormones and their interaction with one another, and as a function of pubertal status (e.g. Nottelmann et al 1987, Susman et al 1991, Susman et al 1987).

Another integrative approach involves research concerned with pubertal onset not just as a biological event but as an event that has social and interpersonal ramifications. This research has examined the timing of puberty relative to one's peer group rather than the onset of puberty per se. This research has recognized that the developmental impact of hormonal changes on behavior and emotion are in part mediated by the responses that pubertal changes elicit from others in the social environment. Specifically, it appears that the onset of puberty early or late relative to the timing of this event for one's peers is an important predictor of behavioral and emotional adjustment (Nottelmann et al 1987, Petersen et al 1991).

Research has also examined the impact of puberty and pubertal timing on the nature of parent-child relationships, especially on parent-child conflict (Paikoff & Brooks-Gunn 1991). Puberty appears to have a predictable but small effect on family relationships, although this association is moderated by a variety of factors including child gender, age at puberty, and family structure (e.g. Hill 1988, Holmbeck & Hill 1991, Papini et al 1988, Steinberg 1987). Researchers have now begun to investigate the processes underlying the observed associations, including responses to biological change, changes in social cognitive processes, self-definitional or identity-related changes, individual or familial characteristics, ethnicity, other social relationship changes, and multiple life-event changes (Paikoff & Brooks-Gunn 1991).

DEVELOPMENTAL BEHAVIORAL SCIENCE Models of adolescent development that consider multiple levels of functioning and analyses have led to a call for interdisciplinary research that draws on the collective knowledge base of several disciplines concerned with human behavior. The most formal proposal for an interdisciplinary approach to the study of adolescent development is reflected in Jessor's call for a "developmental behavioral science" (Jessor 1991, 1992, 1993; Jessor et al 1991). A central element of developmental behavioral science is the abandonment of traditional, parochial models within psychology, as well as an abandonment of a strictly positivist epistemology (Jessor 1993). Research traditions and methods that have developed in sociology, anthropology, child psychiatry, pediatrics, criminology, life course development, demography, and education can all inform a psychology of adolescence. In addition to the integration of traditionally distinct scientific disciplines, developmental behavioral science also includes an integration of the often distinct arenas of basic and applied research. In particular, the high-risk social environments of minority youth are believed to be contexts in which the integration of basic and applied research will be most beneficial

Developmental behavioral science also holds the concept of interrelatedness as central. For example, research has recognized that the impact of various social contexts (e.g. family, peer, school, and work environments) are each dependent in part on the effects of the other (e.g. Durbin et al 1993, Mortimer et al 1992). Further, developmental behavioral science recognizes the interrelatedness of both healthy and maladaptive developmental outcomes. This has been observed in the interrelatedness of a set of problem behaviors (e.g. substance abuse, delinquency, and drunk driving) that reflect a health-compromising lifestyle (Elliott 1993, Windle et al 1992) and the covariation of syndromes of psychological problems or the comorbidity of psychiatric disorders (Angold & Costello 1993, Compas & Hammen 1994).

270 COMPAS ET AL

MODELS OF PERSON-CONTEXT MATCH A third perspective on broad integrative models of adolescent development can be found in conceptualizations of adolescent development as a function of the match or fit between the characteristics of the individual and the social environment (e.g. Eccles & Midgley 1989, Eccles et al 1993, Lerner 1985, Lerner & Tubman 1989, Windle & Lerner 1986). Such models construe adolescent development as a dynamic interaction of individual and environmental characteristics. Adolescents evoke differential reactions from the environment as a result of their physical and behavioral characteristics, and environments contribute to individual development through the feedback that they provide to adolescents. The quality of this feedback is dependent on the degree of fit or match between the characteristics of the individual and the expectations, values, and preferences of the social environment. Problematic development is viewed as a function of a "mismatch between the needs of developing adolescents and the opportunities afforded them by their social environments" (Eccles et al 1993, p. 90). The person-environment match model expands in complexity with the recognition that there may be variability in the degree of fit between an individual adolescent and multiple contexts (e.g. school, peer group, family) at the same time (Eccles et al 1993). Moreover, the expectations and demands of these contexts may or may not be in synch with one another.

A mismatch may occur in the form of expectations or demands from the environment that exceed the developmental capacities of the individual. Some demands that challenge current adaptive capacities may provide a stimulus and opportunity for the development of new competencies, whereas other demands may overwhelm the current capacities of the adolescent and may result in high levels of distress and disorder. For example, Elder and colleagues found that in families subjected to economic hardship during the 1930s, many adolescents were given increased responsibilities within the family that challenged their current resources (Elder & Caspi 1988, Elder et al 1984). The long-term outcomes for these individuals, however, appear to have been positive, suggesting that the increased responsibilities presented an opportunity to develop new coping capacities and skills. In contrast, Compas et al (1994) found that adolescents who were faced with the stress of the diagnosis and treatment of cancer in one of their parents showed poorer adjustment than did preadolescent children in their families. The highest levels of anxiety and depression in these families were experienced by girls whose mothers were ill. The increased distress in these girls was accounted for by the increased levels of family responsibilities and duties they were given while their mothers were incapacitated (KE Grant & BE Compas, unpublished manuscript). These contrasting examples suggest that environmental demands may vary in the degree to which they represent an appropriate or inappropriate fit with adolescents' adaptive capacities. Furthermore, mismatches between the

demands of the environment and the adaptive capacities of the individual may show different short- and long-term effects.

Pathways and Trajectories of Development

Current perspectives on adolescent development have evolved significantly since early conceptualizations of adolescence as a period of stress and turmoil for most or all adolescents (Hall 1904). The search for universal descriptions for all adolescents has been replaced by recognition of the wide variability that characterizes psychological development during the second decade of life. Further, individual differences in the associations between childhood functioning and adolescent development, and between adolescent and adult functioning are also recognized. These observations have contributed to interest in individual differences in the paths and trajectories of personal development from childhood through adolescence to adulthood (e.g. Block 1971, Moffitt 1993, Petersen 1993, Powers et al 1989, Rutter 1989, Rutter & Rutter 1993). Iden**u**fication of developmental paths requires longitudinal data on the same individuals over time, or accelerated longitudinal designs (e.g. Stanger et al 1994, Stanger & Verhulst 1994).

Research on normative and problematic adolescent development has identified five developmental trajectories (see Figure 1). These can be characterized as stable adaptive functioning (Path 1), stable maladaptive functioning (Path 2), adolescent turnaround or recovery (Path 3), adolescent decline (Path 4), and temporary deviation or maladaptation during adolescence (Path 5). Empirical evidence for each of these paths has come from a variety of research endeavors. Stable adaptive functioning is best reflected in youth who traverse adolescence in relatively low-risk environments (Path 1). For example, the development of many adolescents is marked by the absence of involvement in delinquent, antisocial activities or serious emotional problems (e.g. Achenbach 1991). Similarly, the majority of adolescents maintain a positive sense of self throughout adolescence (e.g. Harter 1990). Stable maladaptive functioning is found in the trajectories of individuals who enter adolescence with a personal history of problems or disorder, and who are exposed to chronic stress and adversity in the absence of resources to mitigate against these risks (Path 2). For example, youth with a prior history of aggressive, antisocial behavior during childhood have a high probability of maintaining this pattern throughout adolescence.

Pathways that involve significant change during adolescence are relatively more rare than are stable trajectories, but they are also potentially more informative regarding the personal and contextual factors that account for developmental patterns. One subgroup of adolescents is characterized by a temporary pattern of deviance that is limited to the adolescent years. For example, Moffitt (1993) describes a subgroup of youth who engage in aggressive or delinquent



Figure 1 Divergent pathways of development during adolescence. Path 1: stable adaptive functioning; Path 2: stable maladaptive functioning; Path 3: adolescent turnaround; Path 4: adolescent decline; Path 5: temporary deviation or maladaptation during adolescence.

behavior that is limited to adolescence—it is not preceded by such problems in childhood and is not followed by antisocial problems in adulthood (Path 5). Some patterns of temporary deviance during adolescence may represent experimentation with risk-taking behaviors during adolescence but do not reflect the development of a broader deviant lifestyle. A second subgroup can be identified by a pattern of decline in functioning during adolescence following a relatively successful period of development during childhood (Path 4). This pattern is exemplified by exposure to dramatic changes in environmental circumstances during adolescence. For example, changes in family structure such as divorce or remarriage during adolescence can contribute to negative outcomes for some youth. Changes in development can also be the result of biologically-based shifts that do not emerge until adolescence, as some genetic effects do not "turn on" until adolescence or even later in development (Rutter & Rutter 1993). A third pathway involves a turnaround or recovery in which a previously negative developmental pattern is reversed during adolescence (Path 3). Rutter & Rutter (1993) have outlined how important life events and opportunities during adolescence can contribute to an upturn in a developmental trajectory. One example can be found in the apparent opportunities in the military that are afforded to some individuals whose prior developmental course was headed in a negative direction (Elder 1986).

These different developmental paths have been examined in four ways: 1. paths of development during adolescence (e.g. Alsaker & Olweus 1992, Petersen et al 1991), 2. pathways from childhood to adolescence (e.g. Sameroff et al 1993), 3. pathways from adolescence to adulthood (e.g. Aseltine & Gore 1993, Brooks-Gunn et al 1993, Hammen et al 1994), and 4. lifespan research in which individuals have been followed from early childhood through adolescence into adulthood (e.g. Block et al 1991).

Processes of Risk and Resilience

Recognition of individual differences in pathways of adolescent development is closely linked to interest in those factors that place individuals at risk for a negative trajectory and factors that protect others from these negative paths in spite of exposure to known sources of risk (Anthony & Cohler 1987, Garmezy 1985, Haggerty et al 1994, Rutter & Rutter 1993). Risk factors are those characteristics of the person or the environment that are associated with an increased probability of maladaptive developmental outcomes. Protective factors are hypothesized to interact with sources of risk such that they reduce the probability of negative outcomes under conditions of high risk but do not show an association with developmental outcomes under low risk.

Early research in this area was concerned with the identification of rather static factors or markers that served as predictors of negative outcomes. For example, gender and socioeconomic status are static markers of increased risk for certain negative health and mental health outcomes during adolescence (e.g. Leadbeater et al 1994, Nolen-Hoeksema & Girgus 1994). Some risk markers have been conceptualized in terms of characteristics of individuals, such as genetic predispositions toward specific disorders or a difficult temperament. Similarly, environmental factors, such as exposure to stressful or traumatic life events or chronic poverty and adversity, can be markers of risk.

Although risk factors or markers serve an important function in the identification of individuals with a high probability of subsequent problems, they do not help to explain how or why problems develop. For this reason, research in this area has turned to the search for the processes or mechanisms that account for negative outcomes during adolescence.

One way to conceptualize risk processes is to examine the chain or sequence of events that can unfold as a result of exposure to certain risk factors (e.g. Quinton & Rutter 1988). The impact of stressful major life events on adolescent adjustment also appears to be mediated by more proximal processes in the social environment. Specifically, major life events are related to emotional and behavioral difficulties primarily as a function of the ongoing, chronic stresses and strains to which they give rise (e.g. Compas et al 1989a; KE Grant & BE Compas, unpublished manuscript; Wagner et al 1988). Stressful events such as parental divorce, personal illness, illness of a parent, or a family move contribute to short-term emotional distress. However, the longterm impact of these events is more the result of chronic disruptions, demands, and strains that they create in the adolescent's social environment (Compas 1994).

The effects of exposure to chronic adversity also appear to be mediated by characteristics of the family environment and chronic stress processes. Conger and colleagues have reported on the relationship of family economic hardship and symptoms of psychological distress among adolescents. For example, Ge et al (1992) reported that economic stress had a direct impact on the quality of the parents' marital relationship, which, in turn, disrupted parent-child relationships, leading to increased adolescent distress. Finally, controlled preventive intervention trials can provide evidence that strengthening certain protective factors or processes can reduce the likelihood of negative developmental outcomes among adolescents who are at risk (e.g. Coie et al 1993).

EXEMPLARY RESEARCH ON PROBLEMS OF ADOLESCENCE

Developments in theory and research on the emergence and course of conduct problems (including aggression and delinquency) and depression during adolescence provide important examples of integrative models, identification of developmental paths, and the search for sources of risk and protective mechanisms.

Aggression and Antisocial Behavior

Although most adolescents become well-adjusted adults, a substantial proportion of adolescent males will have some experience with delinquent behavior.¹ A recent analysis of a large New Zealand sample revealed that 93% of males acknowledged some delinquent activity prior to age 18 (Moffitt 1993). These results echo similar findings showing that one third of US males report police contact by adulthood for serious crimes, and four fifths report contact for more minor offenses (Moffitt 1993). These data suggest that adolescent delinquency is common and prevalent for boys and may even be described as normative. Moffitt (1993) suggests that for many boys, delinquency is not only normative

¹

Aggression and antisocial behavior have been studied far more extensively in males than in females, as the prevalence of these behaviors is markedly higher in males. Recent work (Caspi & Moffitt 1991, Caspi et al 1993) with female samples, however, suggests that there may be similarities between antisocial boys and girls.

but is also "adjustive" in that it serves a developmental function by expressing autonomy. The frequency and apparent normality of these behaviors should not, however, obscure their seriousness. Adolescent offenses are often serious and result in negative consequences for the adolescent and for society as a whole.

How do we understand and explain aggression as both a phenomenon of individual development and as a defining feature of a particular developmental period? Recent research in this area has been creative and fruitful, generating hypotheses that promise to help illuminate the nature, etiology, and processes of risk and resilience associated with aggression and delinquency.

BIOPSYCHOSOCIAL MODELS OF AGGRESSION DURING ADOLESCENCE Integrative models of adolescent aggression can be divided into two types. The first type looks to early and chronic biological, psychological, and social factors that influence the development of an aggressive, antisocial personality or behavioral style that manifests itself in adolescence as delinquency. The second type looks to more proximal factors to explain these behaviors during adolescence. It now seems likely that these divergent models describe qualitatively different processes leading to similar negative outcomes.

Investigators of antisocial behavior have noted that aggression is a profoundly persistent, chronic, and intractable characteristic of certain individuals (e.g. Caspi et al 1990, Farrington et al 1990, Robins 1985). Caspi et al (1990) proposed that antisocial behavior reflects an "ill-tempered" interactional style that is developed initially in childhood and persists through adulthood. This interactional style is believed to develop from an insidious transactional process between subtle, congenital neuropsychological deficits and criminologic environments that inadvertently reward aggressive behavior (Moffitt 1993). This style is also thought to be most salient when unfamiliar environments need to be negotiated or during periods of uncertainty such as developmental transitions (Caspi et al 1990). Once developed, individuals who display this interactional style continue to select environments that favor and sustain them, thus creating a lifelong disposition to antisocial behavior (Caspi et al 1990). Longitudinal research (e.g. Farrington et al 1990) has shown that these characteristics are stable and are related to the environmental risks outlined by Caspi et al (1990). In addition, recent findings have supported this model by explaining adolescent aggression in girls. In a sample of 348 girls from New Zealand, Caspi & Moffitt (1991) found that girls predisposed to behavior problems in childhood were more likely to exhibit increases in aggressive and delinquent behavior during adolescence as a result of early maturation.

A second integrative model that examines multidimensional, early and chronic factors to explain adolescent aggression and antisocial behavior is Jessor's "problem behavior" or "risk behavior" theory. Jessor (1993) proposes that risk behavior is a lifestyle created by the interaction of the individual's biological-genetic characteristics, social environment, perceived environment, personality, and behavior. This model is supported by empirical studies showing that each of these factors, when considered independently or in combination with others, predicts aggressive or antisocial outcomes (e.g. Cohen et al 1990, Farrington et al 1990).

Other investigators have approached adolescent behavior problems as a more developmentally specific issue involving more proximal causal factors, such as school and contemporaneous family environments. For example, Eccles et al (1993) have suggested that poor person-environment fit for the adolescent, at home or in school, may account for the increase in behavior problems observed in community school samples of adolescents. Their research reveals that with increasing age and educational level, adolescents desire more participation in classroom and family decision-making but have decreasing opportunity to do so. They hypothesize, therefore, that adolescent "acting out" stems from the failure of schools or families to accommodate and reflect adolescents' increasing needs for autonomy and control.

Moffitt (1993) offers an integrative model for adolescent antisocial behavior that complements and extends person-environment fit models. She hypothesizes that the bulk of adolescent delinquency results from a historical phenomenon—a maturity gap—created by the incongruity of achieving biological maturity at adolescence without simultaneously being awarded adult status. Under these circumstances, delinquency becomes an avenue for selfdefinition and expression of autonomy, a maturity substitute. It is an adaptive attempt by the adolescent to bridge the gap between changing self perceptions and circumscribed social roles.

The potential role of physiological changes in the manifestation of adolescent aggressive and/or antisocial behavior has also been recognized in recent research. Animal studies and studies of adult criminality and violent behavior have largely supported the view that hormonal processes influence the expression of aggression (e.g. Inoff-Germain et al 1988). Recent work on the relation of hormones to aggressive behavior in adolescents suggests that the levels of circulating hormones related to sexual development may be related to measures of aggressive behavior for boys and girls (Susman et al 1987, Inoff-Germain et al 1988). In addition to hormonal influences on aggression, Robins & McEvoy (1990) have suggested that biological factors may play an important role in both conduct problems and substance abuse. Their findings show that conduct problems in childhood and adolescence are related to early drug use, which is strongly and independently related to serious, long-term substance abuse problems. They suggest that the powerful, independent relationship of early drug use to long-term problems may result from the use of drugs during a biologically critical period prior to completion of puberty, when effects of drugs may be more salient.

DEVELOPMENTAL PATHWAYS OF AGGRESSION Developmental data on aggression and antisocial, delinquent behavior present an intriguing puzzle-these problems are persistent yet they increase dramatically in frequency during adolescence. A stable portion of males appear to develop aggressive and conduct problems early in life and sustain these behaviors into adulthood (Farrington et al 1990, Robins 1985). Virtually all men diagnosed with adult antisocial personality disorder carried a diagnosis of conduct disorder in childhood (Robins 1985). Thus, there is ample empirical support for an identified chronic antisocial, delinquent, criminal pathway. In contrast to the observed chronicity of this antisocial pathway, however, delinquency is also distinctly a problem of adolescence, with numbers of crimes and variety of crimes increasing dramatically during this period (Moffitt 1993, LeBlanc 1990). This increase appears to be the result of an increase both in the numbers of crimes and in the number of individuals involved in criminal activity, such that individuals not previously committing delinquent acts begin to do so during adolescence. This increase during adolescence declines in early adulthood to rates similar to those reported prior to adolescence (LeBlanc 1990, Moffitt 1993).

The apparent contradictory observations that aggression and delinquency are both transient and stable is resolved by recognition of two distinct subgroups of males who display these problems and follow two distinct developmental pathways. The first involves a trajectory of chronic poor adjustment early conduct problems that escalate and manifest as juvenile delinquency in adolescence. The second is represented by an adolescent deviance trajectory in which great numbers of previously well-adjusted adolescent males experiment with delinquent behavior and join their more chronic, delinquent peers (Moffitt 1993; see also Figure 1 above).

The two different pathways of antisocial behavior have been hypothesized to have different causal factors and processes. Moffitt (1993) suggests that a small group of adolescent males represents a chronic, persistent course of delinquency, evolving from the interaction of early biological and environmental factors. During adolescence, these antisocial boys seem relatively independent and mature, and thus become temporary role models to other more well-adjusted boys who are seeking self-definition and mature status. This model is supported by numerous findings of changing prevalence of antisocial behavior across the life course, and identified risk and resilience factors for early conduct versus later conduct problems (e.g. Farrington et al 1990, Le-Blanc 1990). Moffitt's model reconciles the apparent contradictory realities of persistent versus transient offending and the latter's distinct relation to adolescence. A third trajectory of adolescent decline (see Figure 1), although less discussed and explored in the literature, may be extrapolated from Moffitt's model. As she suggests, previously well-adjusted adolescents may experiment with particular delinquent behaviors that have long-term effects, such as alcohol and substance abuse and/or irresponsible sexual activity. Through such behaviors and their consequences (e.g. drug dependence, pregnancy, HIV infection), these adolescents may enter a course of steady decline. This group may consist of relatively more adolescent girls, whose antisocial activities are less documented and perhaps less understood. Early-maturing adolescent girls in particular have been identified as a risk group for adjustment problems in general. They are certainly more vulnerable for the long-term consequences of teenage pregnancy and may be more at risk for serious substance abuse problems (Robins & McEvoy 1990), making them likely candidates for a trajectory of adolescent decline.

Lastly, a trajectory of adolescent turnaround (see Figure 1) may be hypothesized from the literature on aggressive children. Farrington et al (1990) have identified a group of boys with hyperactivity-impulsivity-attentional problems who do not present with serious conduct problems. These boys, though troublesome and difficult as children and at risk for juvenile convictions, are unlikely to develop criminal careers in adulthood. For example, Farrington et al (1990) found that fewer boys in the hyperactivity-impulsivity, nonconduct problem group had adult convictions than did boys in the well-adjusted childhood group (8% vs 14.3%). Thus, these boys may represent a group whose earlier problematic functioning improves as they pass through adolescence into adulthood.

RISK AND RESILIENCE Identification of risk and resilience factors and processes is of necessity closely linked to correct identification of developmental pathways. Investigators of adolescent aggression and delinquency have focused on both distal and proximal processes. Moffitt's (1993) model of two distinct pathways to antisocial behavior in adolescence hypothesizes that early-life risk factors may be associated with the more chronic life-course-persistent trajectory and that more contemporary risk factors such as puberty and changing social definition are associated with adolescence-limited antisocial behavior.

Demographic variables (e.g. gender, low SES, and large family size), environmental characteristics (e.g. neighborhood crime and poor housing), parenting behaviors (e.g. poor paternal interactions, poor supervision, low level of control, and power-assertive punishment), and parent characteristics (e.g. low maternal competence, paternal alcoholism, and/or criminality) have been associated with aggressive, adolescent antisocial behaviors and juvenile delinquency (Farrington et al 1990, McCord 1990, Cohen et al 1990, Moffitt 1993). Many of these variables have been associated with long-term, chronic criminal offending and alcoholism as well, and as such may be more defining of Moffitt's "life-course persistent" group and not as relevant to the adolescentlimited group.

In addition to these demographic and psychosocial variables, childhood behavior problems such as oppositional behavior and childhood hyperactivity predict juvenile delinquency. Comorbidity of these problem areas appears to be additive in effect, increasing risk for juvenile delinquency (Farrington et al 1990). Early onset of conduct problems, prior to age 9, is a risk factor for stable and frequent offending (LeBlanc 1990). Conduct problems in childhood also predict earlier adolescent substance use and long-term substance abuse problems.

Moffitt (1993) suggests that adolescent-limited delinquency is a risk of industrialized cultures where children attain biological maturity before they attain adult status. This gap is a key risk factor and provides the motivation and contingencies for temporary acting out. The experience of this gap appears to be more prevalent for boys, and for early maturing girls who are at increased risk for delinquency (Moffitt 1993, Caspi & Moffitt 1991), and seems to be mediated for girls by exposure to boys who would be delinquent peers. Thus, boys who are increasing their delinquent behavior appear to be a risk factor for girls both in that they provide delinquent models and in that relationships with boys may provide a sense of maturity for girls.

Depression During Adolescence

Depression remains one of the most significant mental health problems throughout the lifespan as reflected in its high prevalence among adults (Weissman et al 1991), the debilitating effects of moderate to severe expressions on overall functioning (Gotlib & Hammen 1992), and its association with other negative outcomes including substance abuse (Weissman et al 1991). Recent research has pointed to adolescence as an important developmental period for understanding depression, because many significant changes in depressive problems occur during adolescence (Petersen et al 1993).

DEFINING DEPRESSION DURING ADOLESCENCE Recent integrative perspectives have recognized the significance of three levels of operationalizing depression during adolescence (e.g. Angold 1988, Compas et al 1993a). Depressed mood (Kandel & Davies 1982), an anxious-depressed syndrome (Achenbach 1991), and depressive disorders (American Psychiatric Association 1994) all have important implications and unique contributions for understanding significant psychological problems during adolescence and all contain unique features during adolescence. Compas et al (1993a) have proposed a sequential and hierarchical model for the associations among these multiple levels of depression: A large portion (30-40%) of adolescents experience significant depressed mood at any one point in development, with a smaller group (5-6%) experiencing significant levels of a depressive syndrome, and a still smaller segment (2-3%) of the population experiencing depressive disorders. These groups are viewed as embedded within one another, with each group in the hierarchy representing a subgroup of the others. Further, these levels of depression are hypothesized to develop sequentially over time. Initial empirical investigations have provided partial support for such a model (e.g. Edelbrock & Costello 1988).

BIOPSYCHOSOCIAL MODELS OF DEPRESSION DURING ADOLESCENCE Current models of depression recognize the significance of biological, psychological, and social factors (e.g. Gotlib & Hammen 1992, Shelton et al 1991, Petersen et al 1993). Biological factors that are implicated in the emergence and course of depression during adolescence include neuroendocrine processes, dysregulation of neurotransmitters, dysregulation of biological rhythms such as sleep patterns, and a family history of depression that is suggestive of a genetic risk for the disorder (e.g. Brooks-Gunn et al 1994; Dahl et al 1991, 1992). Cognitive or psychological factors that are associated with depression during adolescence include a dysfunctional style of attributing the causes of success and failure (Kaslow 1994), negative perceptions about the self (Garber et al 1993), hopelessness about the future (Kazdin et al 1986), and a maladaptive style of coping with stress (Compas et al 1993b). Social factors associated with adolescent depression entail family dysfunction (including parental depression), psychosocial stress, and poor peer relationships (Cole 1991, Compas et al 1994a, Hammen 1991).

When these various perspectives on depression during adolescence are considered together it is apparent that dozens of factors may interact in their relationship with depressive problems among adolescents. For example, Brooks-Gunn & Warren (1989) found that pubertal stage was not related to symptoms of depression or social withdrawal in a sample of adolescent girls. However, negative life events were more likely to be associated with these symptoms in pre- than in postmenarcheal girls. Early maturing girls (Petersen et al 1991) and late maturing boys (Nottelmann et al 1987) report more depressed affect, again indicating that the social ramifications of puberty are important. In a novel study that integrated biological and psychological factors related to depression, Ewart & Kolodner (1994) found that negative affect, including depressed mood and anger, was related to prevailing blood pressure levels in adolescents. Further, this association was found to be moderated by gender, a nonverbal expressive style, and social setting (e.g. in a classroom vs with friends). Drawing on a general diathesis-stress framework, Robinson and colleagues (NS Robinson, J Garber, R Hilsman, unpublished manuscript) found that a negative attributional style interacted with recent stressors to predict depressive symptoms but not externalizing behavior problems. The

need for integrative research is further reflected in the recognition of the high degree of co-occurrence of depressive symptoms and the comorbidity of depressive disorders with other symptoms and disorders during adolescence (e.g. Angold & Costello 1993, Compas & Hammen 1994, Nottelmann & Jensen 1994).

The challenges for researchers in this area are clear—to distinguish correlates from causes, to identify how these factors interact to contribute to the cause versus maintenance of depression, to delineate the processes that account for depression in some adolescents and not others, and to distinguish risk factors associated with depressed mood versus syndrome versus disorders. These goals will not be achieved by continued pursuit of these factors in isolation; integrative models and research are necessary.

DEVELOPMENTAL PATHWAYS OF DEPRESSION Some of the most provocative empirical evidence on depression during adolescence has come from longitudinal studies of developmental paths that entail depressive problems. Early to middle adolescence marks a point of increased depressed mood, depressive syndromes, and depressive disorders (e.g. Rutter 1986). Increased rates of depressive problems, as well as the substantially higher rates of these problems for females as compared to males, emerge during adolescence and remain relatively stable into adulthood (Petersen et al 1993). Thus, longitudinal data suggest that there is something special about adolescence in understanding developmental processes in depression. An important next step in this research involves documenting the paths of depressive problems during adolescence.

Data from one of the largest investigations of the course of depression and other disorders during adolescence revealed high rates of relapse (Lewinsohn et al 1991, 1993; Rohde et al 1991), which suggests that depression is recurrent among adolescents who have experienced an initial episode. Data on the recurrent nature of depressive disorders indicates that the course of clinical depression is characterized by both change and continuity. That is, depression is episodic rather than stable and unremitting over long periods of time. On the other hand, depressive episode, she or he is at substantially increased risk for a recurrence in the future (Lewinsohn et al 1991). Therefore, the stable maladaptive pathway described above characterizes a subgroup of adolescents who experience depression, with the qualification that even the group that shows the most persistent pattern of depression will experience sustained periods in which they do not meet diagnostic criteria for a depressive disorder (Lewinsohn et al 1991).

The probability that significant depression will be first observed during adolescence is much greater than an initial onset during childhood, suggesting the group characterized by an adolescent decline in adaptation is larger than a group whose depressive problems have continued since childhood. The available evidence also suggests that individuals who experience significant levels of depression during adolescence are unlikely to experience a complete turnaround, because they are at high risk to experience a reoccurrence during adulthood (Harrington et al 1990). Furthermore, those individuals who have experienced conditions that are comorbid with depression during adolescence appear to be at even greater risk for continued depression or recurrences (Hammen et al 1994).

As noted above, depressed mood, depressive syndromes, and depressive disorders all co-occur with other problems at a high rate (Compas & Hammen 1994). Studies of co-occurrence and comorbidity indicate that depressive problems typically follow rather than precede other problems (e.g. Kovacs et al 1984, 1988).

Longitudinal studies also show that the course of depressive problems differs for males and females. In a longitudinal study of 335 adolescents randomly selected from two school districts, Petersen et al (1991) found no significant sex differences in measures of depressed affect or number of depressive episodes in early adolescence (grades 6-8), but there were significant gender differences in the twelfth grade follow-up assessment. Girls began to show an increase in depressed affect in the eighth grade, with boys remaining at a relatively stable level. In the twelfth grade, girls scored significantly worse on measures of depressed affect and emotional tone and had a significantly higher number of depressive episodes than did boys. Block et al (1991) investigated the role of behavior and personality antecedents in the manifestation of depressive symptoms at 18 years of age. For males and females displaying depressive tendencies at age 18, the authors note several significant correlates at ages 3/4, 7, and 11 years, which correspond to proposed internalizing and externalizing personality profiles. These correlates are less exhaustive but similar to those found at age 14. In addition, males who were subsequently depressed at age 18 were more likely to acknowledge the use of marijuana at age 14, whereas the dysthymic females were more likely to acknowledge the use of harder drugs. The authors suggest that this unexpected finding for females "may represent a desperate, convoluted attempt to escape a personal situation, already viewed as hopeless, by changing the inner world" (Block et al 1991). These findings suggest that personality characteristics may serve to explain the sex differences in the expression of depression during adolescence.

RISK AND PROTECTIVE MECHANISMS Consistent with a biopsychosocial perspective on depression during adolescence, there is evidence for sources of risk in the biological, psychological, and social domains. Clearly the four most significant markers of risk for depression during adolescence are age, gender, a family history of depression, and exposure to stressful events and life circumstances. Early to mid-adolescence marks a time of significant increase in the risk for depression as compared with childhood (Petersen et al 1993). Gender is an equally strong marker; adolescent girls are at least twice as likely as boys to develop depression (e.g. Nolen-Hoeksema & Girgus 1994), a pattern that is not evident in childhood. Parental depression places children and adolescents at increased risk for depressive problems as well as a host of other emotional and behavioral difficulties (Cummings & Davies 1994, Downey & Coyne 1990, Hammen 1991, Lee & Gotlib 1991). Finally, stressful life events and chronic stress or adversity also are associated with increased risk for depressive symptoms and disorders (Compas et al 1994b).

In the biological realm, there is some evidence that the sleep onset mechanism is impaired in some depressed adolescents, as evidenced by decreased growth hormone secretion, increased cortisol, and increased time until sleep in a subgroup of depressed adolescents who expressed suicidal intent (Dahl et al 1992). Genetic loading may be higher for depression that has an initial onset during childhood or adolescence (Puig-Antich 1987, Strober et al 1988).

Research examining mechanisms of risk that may explain how and why risk markers lead to depression has been relatively rare. One active area of research on risk mechanisms has focused on parent-child interactions in families with a depressed parent, most typically a depressed mother. Hammen and her colleagues have found that the interactions between depressed mothers and their children (including adolescents) are characterized by irritability and negativity, and that levels of mother and child stress and strain closely coincide (e.g. Adrian & Hammen 1993, Hammen et al 1991). A second area of riskmechanism research has focused on stress processes. The accumulation of negative life events also serves as a marker of subsequent increases in depressed mood and symptoms of depressive syndromes and disorders (e.g. Compas et al 1989a; Dubois et al 1994; NS Robinson, J Garber & R Hilsman, unpublished manuscript; KE Grant & BE Compas, unpublished manuscript). Discrete stressful life events appear to contribute to depressive outcomes at least partly through chronic or minor stress in the proximal environment.

In an effort to explain the sex difference in adolescent depression, Petersen et al (1991) proposed and tested a model for the development of mental health in adolescence. This model incorporated prior mental health difficulties, timing and nature of life events (stressful or normative), and the buffering effects of family and peer support and coping responses. They found that gender differences in depressed affect were related to the synchronicity of pubertal and school change, and sex differences in the number of depressive episodes were related to early pubertal timing in girls. The authors note that since only girls showed long-term negative effects of early puberty and since they are more likely to experience pubertal change simultaneously with school change, this may further explain the increase in depression in girls during adolescence. Petersen et al (1991) suggested that these stressful events may actually improve boys' confidence and coping skills, thus providing a buffering effect. Lastly, although an adolescent's relationship with a best friend was not associated significantly with depressed affect, closeness with parents, especially fathers appeared to moderate the effects of early adolescent changes. Specifically, closeness with mothers buffered negative effects of family changes, while closeness with fathers buffered both family change and synchronous school and pubertal change.

In a longitudinal study of cognitive and ego development, Block and colleagues investigated gender differences in depressive symptoms along with their familial and personality antecedents. Relative to nondysphoric males and females and dysphoric females, male adolescents with depressive tendencies were observed as relatively antagonistic, unrestrained, unhappy with self, and unconventional in thought and behavior, and described themselves as alienated and relatively aggressive, having a tendency to worry, feeling vulnerability, and a lack of a sense of psychological well-being (Gjerde et al 1988). In a similar comparison, dysphoric females were not observed as socially impaired or aggressive, but they described themselves as relatively aggressive, unrestrained, alienated from others, and having low self-esteem (Gjerde et al 1988).

To elaborate on the involvement of personality characteristics in the manifestation of depression at age 18, Block & Gjerde (1990) analyzed data obtained during childhood. Females with high depressive symptom scores at age 18 performed significantly higher on the performance IQ subscale and the full IQ scale as assessed at age 4. At age 14, girls displayed personality traits, termed collectively as ego brittleness, including feelings of vulnerability, anxiety, somalization, concern with adequacy, rumination, and feelings of little personal meaning in their lives. Additionally, low self-esteem assessed at age 14 was significantly related to depressive symptoms in 18-year-old females. Although 14-year-old boys also exhibited ego brittleness similar to their female counterparts, antisocial and hostile characteristics became even more prominent for these males. Further, females who exhibited dysphoric tendencies at age 18 tended to display concern with morality and loss in play at age 11. Females who scored relatively low or high on the depression scale also displayed more anger, themes of loss, and were more overcontrolling of impulse as compared to those in the middle range. Males who scored relatively high or low on the depressive symptoms measure exhibited more anger and concern with loss than did males in the middle range. Contrary to results found for females, these males also tended to be less controlling of impulse.

EMERGENT THEMES ON ADOLESCENT DEVELOPMENT

Contributions

The gradual emergence of integrative models that consider pathways of development as a function of risk and protective processes has had a number of benefits for the psychology of adolescence. First, these approaches have facilitated interdisciplinary research, breaking down the often artificial boundaries that contribute to fragmentation of theory and research and unproductive battles over intellectual turf. Collaborative efforts that draw on skilled researchers from psychology, medicine, education, sociology, and other disciplines have been developed to tackle significant problems pertaining to adolescent development. These efforts should yield more comprehensive perspectives on both normal and atypical development during adolescence.

Second, these research themes underscore the importance of adhering to a developmental perspective that captures both the continuities and discontinuities of individual development. Most adolescents traverse this developmental period without major psychological or behavioral problems. A growing segment of the adolescent population, however, is represented by other developmental trajectories that include in some cases brief and in other cases enduring problems. Longitudinal research efforts have been undertaken to chart these individual differences in pathways through adolescence. Attention to individual differences in the course of adolescent development will help resolve the apparently contradictory results that are found when only aggregated data are examined (Moffitt 1993).

Third, these themes capture the transactional nature of development and behavior, in which both person and context as well their mutual influences on one another are examined. Simple main effects models in which aspects of the person or the environment are given precedence over the other are insufficient to explain the complexity of different developmental paths through adolescence. The findings described above are clear in their implications for understanding problems of aggression and depression, as well as other aspects of adolescent development.

A fourth benefit of these themes has been their contribution to research on a number of important aspects of normative development during adolescence (e.g. parent-adolescent relationships, identity development, effects of schooling) as well as atypical development (e.g. alcohol, tobacco, and substance abuse; teen pregnancy; suicide; delinquency). Continued integration of research on normative and deviant development during adolescence will be useful to the field, as research on normative and clinical populations can inform each other.

Limitations

Despite the significance of these themes for the development of a psychology of adolescence, they have some limitations. First, overly broad conceptual models violate the fundamental scientific principle of parsimony. That is, broad integrative models that include multiple levels of analysis run the risk of describing much but explaining little. A challenge for proponents of biopsychosocial models is to determine which elements are necessary and sufficient to explain the important features of adolescent development. For example, although broad contextual factors are important correlates of significant problems during adolescence, they may carry no additional weight in explaining individual differences in developmental paths after accounting for more proximal characteristics of the environment. Similarly, family history of a specific problem may be interpreted as consistent with a genetic process when it may be fully accounted for by a history of dysfunctional interactions and relationships within the family. The identification of correlates of adolescent functioning at multiple levels of analysis does not insure that these correlates all play important causal roles in adolescent development.

Second, basic psychological models (e.g. learning theory) have been misrepresented and used as straw targets for arguments that enhance the appearance of integrative models at the expense of increasingly complex models that already are available. Learning- or conditioning-based explanations of development have frequently been criticized for being mechanistic and reductionistic (e.g. Jessor 1993). More recent conceptualizations of fundamental processes of learning and conditioning are far from mechanistic in nature, drawing instead on the rich tradition of associationist models (e.g. Rescorla 1988). As the field continues to develop broad interdisciplinary models, there is an increased risk of losing what is unique in the perspective of psychology as a discipline.

Third, recent approaches to research on adolescent development value macro-level longitudinal research to the extent that micro-level studies, including laboratory experimental methods, may be overlooked. For example, research on the nature and development of coping processes during adolescence has been influenced strongly by a paradigm of coping research that relies exclusively on self reports of coping in natural contexts (Compas 1987). Some of the complex cognitive processes that are involved in coping with stress cannot be understood adequately without additional information that can only be obtained in controlled laboratory contexts (e.g. Nolen-Hoeksema 1991). Further, microanalytic studies of the subtle changes of mood and behavior that characterize the daily lives of adolescents make important contributions that complement broader longitudinal studies (e.g. Richards & Larson 1993). Fourth, the broad themes that are guiding adolescent research may not be useful in the search for specificity in some developmental processes or some problems or forms of psychopathology. Although many of the problems of adolescence are interrelated, they may be the result of separate risk mechanisms. For example, depression and aggression may co-occur but as a result of separate risk processes (e.g. Downey & Coyne 1990). Marital conflict and discord is associated with child and adolescent aggression, and parental depression is a risk factor for child and adolescent depression. Marital discord and parental depression are highly intercorrelated, however, and may function as distinct but correlated risk factors for separate but correlated outcomes. Attention to specific risk mechanisms will be important for understanding the etiology of distinct but related problems during adolescence (Garber & Hollon 1991).

Fifth, more cross-cultural research and research with ethnic minority adolescents is needed to place adolescent development in its social context. The adolescent population in the United States continues to become a more ethnically diverse group, partly as a result of immigration. Understanding the experiences of these populations has become an increasing focus of adolescent research. For example, Feldman et al (1991) have examined conduct problems and family environments in Hong Kong, Australia, and the United States; Chiu et al (1992) examined the influence of immigration on parental behavior and adolescent distress in Chinese families residing in the United States and Australia; Linares et al (1991) identified subgroups among African-American and Hispanic-American adolescent mothers; and Rosenthal & Feldman (1991) have examined the influence of perceived family and personal factors on school performance of Chinese and Western high school students.

CONCLUSION

These recent trends in research and theory concerned with adolescent development offer a solid foundation for continued understanding of both normative and atypical developmental processes and paths during the second decade of life. The field will benefit from renewed debate about the usefulness of fundamental psychological models for understanding adolescent development. Recognition of the significance of biological, psychological, and social processes provides a broad framework for understanding adolescent development. More specific models are needed, however, to add greater precision to theory and research on delineated aspects of adolescent functioning. Continued consideration of models from learning theory, cognitive science, and social psychology will be useful in pursuing research on adolescent development. Furthermore, integration of longitudinal and laboratory experimental research, including the integration of research with animal and human populations, will provide a more complete and rich understanding of adolescent development.

Finally, increased attention to the implications of research for interventions is needed to improve the quality of life for adolescents and to guide the development of sound public policy (Dougherty 1993, Zaslow & Takanishi 1993). In spite of the significance of psychosocial problems of adolescence, well-designed and evaluated interventions for the prevention and treatment of these problems have been rare. The strong knowledge base on biopsychosocial processes in adolescent development provides a foundation for the continued development of interventions to address the problems of adolescence.

Any Annual Review chapter, as well as any article cited in an Annual Review chapter, may be purchased from the Annual Reviews Preprints and Reprints service. 1-800-347-8007; 415-259-5017; email: arpr@class.org

Literature Cited

- Achenbach TM. 1991. Integrative Guide for the 1991 CBCL/4-18, YSR, and TRF Profiles. Burlington, VT: Univ. Vermont, Dept. Psychiatr.
- Achenbach TM, Howell CT. 1993. Are American children's problems getting worse? A 13-year comparison. J. Am. Acad. Child Adol. Psychiatr. 32:1145-54
- Adrian C, Hammen C. 1993. Suress exposure and stress generation in children of depressed mothers. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 61:354–59
- Alsaker FD, Olweus D. 1992. Stability of global self-evaluations in early adolescence: a cohort longitudinal study. J. Res. Adol. 2:123-45
- American Psychiatric Association. 1994. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders. Washington, DC: Am. Psychiatr. Press. 4th ed.
- Angold A. 1988. Childhood and adolescent depression. I: Epidemiological and aetiological aspects. Br. J. Psychiatr. 152:601–17
- Angold A, Costello EJ. 1993. Depressive comorbidity in children and adolescents: empirical, theoretical, and methodological issues. Am. J. Psychiatr. 150:1779–91
- Anthony EJ, Cohler BJ. 1987. The Vulnerable Child. New York: Guilford
- Aseltine RH, Gore S. 1993. Mental health and social adaptation following the transition from high school. J. Res. Adol. 3:247–70
- Belsky J, Steinberg L, Draper P. 1991. Childhood experience, interpersonal development and reproductive strategy: an evolutionary theory of socialization. *Child Dev.* 62:647–70

- Block J. 1971. Lives Through Time. Berkeley, CA: Bankroft
- Block J, Gjerde PF. 1990. Depressive symptoms in late adolescence: a longitudinal perspective on personality antecedents. In Risk and Protective Factors in the Development of Psychopathology, ed. JE Rolf, A Masten, D Cicchetti, KH Nuechterlein, S Weintraub, pp. 334–59. New York: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Block J, Gjerde PF, Block JH. 1991. Personality antecedents of depressive tendencies in 18-year-olds: a prospective study. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 60:726–38
- Brooks-Gunn J. 1987. Pubertal processes and girls' psychological adaptation. In Biological-psychosocial Interactions in Early Adolescence: A Lifespan Perspective, ed. RM Lerner, TT Foch, pp. 123-53. Hillsdale, NJ: Earlbaum
- Brooks-Gunn J, Guo G, Furstenberg F. 1993. Who drops out of and who continues beyond high school? A 20-year follow-up of black urban youth. J. Res. Adol. 3:271–94
- Brooks-Gunn J, Paikoff RL. 1993. "Sex is a gamble, kissing is a game": adolescent sexuality and health promotion. See Millstein et al 1993, pp. 180-208
- Brooks-Gunn J, Petersen AC, Compas BE. 1994. What role does biology play in childhood and adolescent depression? In Mood Disorders in Childhood and Adolescence, ed. IM Goodyer. New York: Cambridge Univ. Press. In press
- Brooks-Gunn J, Reiter EO. 1990. The role of pubertal processes. See Feldman & Elliott 1990, pp. 16-53

- Brooks-Gunn J, Rock D, Warren MP. 1989. Comparability of constructs across the adolescent years. Dev. Psychol. 25:51–60
- Brooks-Gunn J, Warren MP. 1989. Biological and social contributions to negative affect in young adolescent girls. *Child Dev.* 60: 40-55
- Brown BB. 1990. Peer groups and peer cultures. See Feldman & Elliott 1990, pp. 171–96
- Buchanan CM, Eccles JS, Becker JB. 1992. Are adolescents the victims of raging hormones: evidence for the activational effects of hormones on moods and behavior at adolescence. *Psychol. Bull.* 111:62–107
- Caspi A, Elder GH, Herbener ES. 1990. Childhood personality and the prediction of lifecourse patterns. See Robins & Rutter 1990, pp. 13–35
- Caspi A, Lyman D, Moffitt TE, Silva PA. 1993. Unraveling girls' delinquency: biological, dispositional, and contextual contributions to adolescent misbehavior. *Dev. Psychol.* 29:19–30
- Caspi A, Moffitt TE. 1991. Individual differences are accentuated during periods of social change: the sample case of girls at puberty. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 61:157–68
- Chiu ML, Feldman SS, Rosenthal DA. 1992. The influence of immigration on parental behavior and adolescent distress in Chinese families residing in two western nations. J. Res. Adol. 2:205–39
- Cohen P, Brood JS, Cohen J, Velez CN, Garcia M. 1990. Common and uncommon pathways to adolescent psychopathology and problem behavior. See Robins & Rutter 1990, pp. 242–58
- Coie JD, Watt NF, West SG, Hawkins JD, Asarnow JR, et al. 1993. The science of prevention: a conceptual framework and some directions for a national research program. Am. Psychol. 48:1013–22
- Cole D. 1991. Preliminary support for a competency-based model of depression in children. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 100:181-90
- Compas BE. 1987. Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence. *Psychol. Bull.* 101:393-403
- Compas BE. 1994. Promoting successful coping during adolescence. In Psychosocial Disturbances in Young People: Challenges for Prevention, ed. M Rutter. Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press. In press
- Compas BE, Ey S, Grant KE. 1993a. Taxonomy, assessment, and diagnosis of depression during adolescence. *Psychol. Bull.* 114:323-44
- Compas BE, Grant KE, Ey S. 1994a. Psychosocial stress and child/adolescent depression: Can we be more specific? In Handbook of Depression in Children and Adolescents, ed. WM Reynolds, H Johnston. New York: Plenum. In press

- Compas BE, Hammen CL. 1994. Child and adolescent depression: covariation and comorbidity in development. See Haggerty et al 1994, pp. 225-67
- Compas BE, Howell DC, Phares V, Williams RA, Giunta C. 1989a. Risk factors for emotional/behavioral problems in young adolescents: a prospective analysis of adolescent and parental stress and symptoms. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 57:732-40
- Consult. Clin. Psychol. 57:732-40 Compas BE, Howell DC, Phares V, Williams RA, Ledoux N. 1989b. Parent and child stress and symptoms: an integrative analysis. Dev. Psychol. 25:550-59
- Compas BE, Orosan PG, Grant KE. 1993b. Adolescent stress and coping: implications for psychopathology during adolescence. J. Adol. 16:331-49
- Compas BE, Worsham N, Epping JE, Howell DC, Grant KE, et al. 1994b. When mom or dad has cancer: markers of psychological distress in patients, spouses, and children. *Health Psychol.* In press
- Crockett LJ, Petersen AC. 1993. Adolescent development: health risks and opportunities for health promotion. See Millstein et al 1993, pp. 13–37
- Cummings EM, Davies PT. 1994. Maternal depression and child development. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatr. 35:73–112
- Dahl ŘE, Ryan ND, Puig-Antich J, Nguyen NA, al-Shabbout M, et al. 1991. 24-hour cortisol measures in adolescents with major depression: a controlled study. *Biol. Psychiatr.* 30:25–36
- Dahl RE, Ryan ND, Williamson DE, Ambrosini PJ, Rabinovich H, et al. 1992. Regulation of sleep and growth hormone in adolescent depression. J. Am. Acad. Child Adol. Psychiatr. 31:615–21
- Dougherty DM. 1993. Adolescent health: reflections on a report to the U.S. Congress. Am. Psychol. 48:193-201
- Downey G, Coyne JC. 1990. Children of depressed parents: an integrative review. Psychol. Bull. 108:50-76
- Dubeis DL, Felner RD, Meares H, Krier M. 1994. A prospective investigation of the effects of socioeconomic disadvantage, life stress, and social support on early adolescent adjustment. J. Abnorm. Psychol. In press
- Durbin DL, Darling N, Steinberg L, Brown BB. 1993. Parenting style and peer group membership among European-American adolescents. J. Res. Adol. 3:87-100
- Earls F, Cairns RB, Mercy JA. 1993. The control of violence and the promotion of nonviolence in adolescents. See Millstein et al 1993, pp. 159–79
- 1993, pp. 159-79 Eccles JS, Midgley C. 1989. Stage/environment fit: developmentally appropriate classrooms for early adolescents. In *Re*search on Motivation in Education, ed. RE

Ames, C Ames, 3:139-86. San Diego, CA: Academic

- Eccles JS, Midgley C, Wigfield A, Buchanan CM, Reuman D, et al. 1993. Development during adolescence: the impact of stage-environment fit on adolescents' experiences in schools and families. *Am. Psychol.* 48: 90-101
- Edelbrock C, Costello AJ. 1988. Convergence between statistically derived behavior problem syndromes and child psychiatric diagnoses. J. Abnorm. Child Psychol. 16: 219-31
- Elder GH. 1986. Military times and turning points in men's lives. Dev. Psychol. 22: 233-45
- Elder GH, Caspi A. 1988. Human development and social change: an emerging perspective on the life course. In *Persons in Context: Developmental Processes*, ed. N Bolger, A Caspi, G Downey, M Moorehouse, pp. 77-113. Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Elder GH, Liker J, Cross C. 1984. Parent-child behavior in the Great Depression: life course and inter-generational influences. In *Life-span Development and Behavior*, ed. PB Baltes, OG Brim, 6:109–58. New York: Academic
- Elliott DS. 1993. Health-enhancing and healthcompromising lifestyles. See Millstein et al 1993, pp. 119-45
- Entwisle DR. 1990. Schools and the adolescent. See Feldman & Elliott 1990, pp. 197– 224
- Ewart CK, Kolodner KB. 1994. Negative affect, gender, and expressive style predict elevated ambulatory blood pressure in adolescents. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 66:596-605
- Farrington D, Loeber R, Van Kammen WB. 1990. Long-term criminal outcomes of hyperactivity-impulsivity-attention deficit and conduct problems in childhood. See Robins & Rutter 1990, pp. 62–81
- Feldman SS, Elliott GR, eds. 1990. At the Threshold: The Developing Adolescent. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Univ. Press
- Feldman SS, Rosenthal DA, Mont-Reymond R, Leung K, Lau S. 1991. Ain't misbehavin': adolescent values and family environments as correlates of misconduct in Australia, Hong Kong, and the United States. J. Res. Adol. 1:109–34
- Freud A. 1958. Adolescence. Psychoanal. Stud. Child. 13:255-78
- Furstenberg FF. 1990. Coming of age in a changing family system. See Feldman & Elliott 1990, pp. 147–70
- Garber J, Hollon SD. 1991. What can specificity designs say about causality in psychopathology research? *Psychol. Bull.* 110: 129–36
- Garber J, Weiss B, Shanley N. 1993. Cognitions, depressive symptoms, and develop-

ment in adolescents. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 102:47-57

- Garland AF, Zigler E. 1993. Adolescent suicide prevention: current research and social policy implications. Am. Psychol. 48:169– 82
- Garmezy N. 1985. Stress-resistant children: the search for protective factors. In Recent Research in Developmental Psychopathology. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatr. Book Suppl. 4:213–33, ed. JE Stevenson. Oxford: Pergamon
- Ge X, Conger RD, Lorenz FO, Elder GH, Montague RB, Simons RL. 1992. Linking family economic hardship to adolescent distress. J. Res. Adol. 2:351–78
- Gjerde PF, Block J, Block JH. 1988. Depressive symptoms and personality during late adolescence: gender differences in the externalization-internalization of symptom expression. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 97: 475-86
- Gotlib IH, Hammen C. 1992. Psychological Aspects of Depression: Toward a Cognitive-interpersonal Integration. New York: Wiley
- Haggerty RJ, Garmezy N, Rutter M, Sherrod L, eds. 1994. Risk and Resilience in Children: Developmental Approaches. New York: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Hall GS. 1904. Adolescence: Its Psychology and its Relation to Psychology, Anthropology, Sociology, Sex, Crime, Religion, and Education. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall
- Hamburg DA. 1992. Today's Children: Creating a Future for a Generation in Crisis. New York: New York Times Books
- Hammen C. 1991. Depression Runs in Families. New York: Springer-Verlag
- Hammen C, Burge D, Adrian C. 1991. Timing of mother and child depression in a longitudinal study of children at risk. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 59:341-45
- Hammen C, Daley S, Rudolph K, Burge D. 1994. Depression comorbidity in late adolescent women. Presented at Biannu. Meet. Soc. Res. Adol., San Diego, Feb.
- Hammond WR, Yung B. 1993. Psychology's role in the public health response to assaultive violence among young African-American men. Am. Psychol. 48:142–54
- Harrington R, Fudge H, Rutter M, Pickles A, Hill J. 1990. Adult outcome of childhood and adolescent depression. Arch. Gen. Psychiatr. 47:465–73
- Harter S. 1990. Self and identity development. See Feldman & Elliott 1990, pp. 352-87
- Hill JP. 1988. Adapting to menarche: familial control and conflict. In *Minnesota Symposium on Child Development*, ed. M Gunnar, WA Collins, 21:43–77. Hillsdale, NJ: Earlbaum
- Holmbeck GN, Hill JP. 1991. Conflictive en-

gagement, positive affect, and menarche in families with seventh grade girls. *Child Dev.* 62:1030–48

- Inoff-Germain G, Arnold GS, Nottelmann ED, Susman EJ, Cutler GB, Chousos GP. 1988. Relations between hormone levels and observational measures of aggressive behavior of young adolescents in family interactions. Dev. Psychol. 24:129–39
- Jessor R. 1991. Behavioral science: an emerging paradigm for social inquiry? In Perspectives on Behavioral Science: The Colorado Lectures, ed. R Jessor, pp. 309– 16. Boulder, CO: Westview
- Jessor R. 1992. Risk behavior in adolescence: a psychosocial framework for understanding and action. Dev. Rev. 12:374–90
- Jessor R. 1993. Successful adolescent development among youth in high-risk settings. Am. Psychol. 48:117-26
- Jessor R, Donovan JD, Costa F. 1991. Beyond Adolescence: Problem Behavior and Young Adult Development. New York: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Kandel DB, Davies M. 1982. Epidemiology of depressive mood in adolescents. Arch. Gen. Psychiatr. 39:1205–12
- Kaslow N. 1994. Contemporary psychological theories. In Handbook of Depression in Children and Adolescents, ed. WM Reynolds, H Johnston. New York: Plenum
- Kazdin AE, Rodgers A, Colbus D. 1986. The Hopelessness Scale for Children: psychometric characteristics and concurrent validity. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 54:241– 45
- Keating D. 1990. Adolescent thinking. See Feldman & Elliott 1990, pp. 54–89
- Kestenbaum JS. 1968. Phases of adolescence with suggestions for a correlation of psychic and hormonal organizations: Part 3. Puberty growth, differentiation, and consolidation. J. Am. Acad. Child Psychiatr. 7:108-51
- Kovacs M, Feinberg TL, Crouse-Novak MA, Paulauskas SL, Finkelstein R. 1984. Depressive disorders in childhood: I. A longitudinal prospective study of characteristics and recovery. Arch. Gen. Psychiatr. 41: 219–39
- Kovacs M, Paulauskas S, Gatsonis C, Richards C. 1988. Depressive disorders in childhood: III. A longitudinal study of comorbidity with and risk for conduct disorders. J. Affect. Disord. 15:205–17
- Leadbeater BJ, Blatt SJ, Quinlan DM. 1994. Gender-linked vulnerabilities to depressive symptoms, stress, and problem behaviors in adolescence. J. Res. Adol. In press
- LeBlanc M. 1990. Two processes of the development of persistent offending: activation and escalation. See Robins & Rutter 1990, 82–100
- Lee CM, Gotlib IH. 1991. Family disruption,

parental availability, and child adjustment: an integrative review. In Advances in the Behavioral Assessment of Children and Families, ed. RJ Prinz, 5:166–99. Greenwich, CT: JAI

- Lerner RM. 1985. Adolescent maturational changes and psychosocial development: a dynamic interactional perspective. J. Youth Adol. 14:355–72
- Lerner RM, Mulkeen P. 1990. Commentary. Dev. Rev. 33:179–84
- Lerner RM, Tubman JG. 1989. Conceptual issues in studying continuity and discontinuity in personality development across life. J. Pers. 57:343-73
- Leventhal H, Keeshan P. 1993. Promoting healthy alternatives to substance abuse. See Millstein et al 1993, pp. 260–84
- Lewinsohn PM, Hops H, Roberts RE, Seeley JR, Andrews JA. 1993. Adolescent psychopathology: I. Prevalence and incidence of depression and other DSM-III-R disorders in high school students. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 102:133–44
- Lewinsohn PM, Rohde P, Seeley JR, Hops H. 1991. The comorbidity of unipolar depression: I. Major depression with dysthymia. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 100:205–13
- Linares LO, Leadbeater BJ, Kato PM, Jaffe L. 1991. Predicting subgroup outcomes for minority groups adolescent mothers: Can subgroups be identified? J. Res. Adol. 1: 379-400
- McCord J. 1990. Long-term perspectives on parental absence. See Robins & Rutter 1990, pp. 116–34
- Millstein SG, Petersen AC, Nightingale EO, eds. 1993. Promoting the Health of Adolescents: New Directions for the Twenty-first Century. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- Moffitt TÉ. 1993. Adolescence-limited and life-course-persistent antisocial behavior: a developmental taxonomy. *Psychol. Rev.* 100:674–701
- Mortimer JT, Finch M, Shanahan M, Ryu S. 1992. Adolescent work history and behavioral adjustment. J. Res. Adol. 2:59–80
- Nolen-Hoeksema S. 1991. Responses to depression and their effects on the duration of depressive episodes. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 100:569-82
- Nolen-Hoeksema S, Girgus JS. 1994. The emergence of gender differences in depression during adolescence. *Psychol. Bull.* 115:424-43
- Nottelmann ED, Jensen PS. 1994. Comorbidity of disorders in children and adolescents: developmental perspectives. In Advances in Clinical Child Psychology, ed. T Ollendick, R Prinz, Vol. 17. New York: Plenum. In press
- Nottlemann ED, Susman E, Inoff-Germain G, Cutler G, Loriaux D, Chrousos G. 1987. Developmental processes in early adoles-

cence: relationships between adolescent adjustment problems and chronological age, pubertal status, and puberty-related serum hormone levels. J. Pediatr. 110:473– 80

- Paikoff RL, Brooks-Gunn J. 1991. Do parentchild relationships change during puberty? *Psychol. Bull.* 110:47-66
- Papini DR, Datan N, McCluskey-Fawcett KA. 1988. An observational study of affective and assertive family interactions during adolescence. J. Youth Adol. 17:477–92
- Petersen AC. 1988. Adolescent development. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 39:583-607
- Petersen AC. 1993. Presidential address: Creating adolescents: the role of context and process in developmental trajectories. J. Res. Adol. 3:1–18
- Petersen AC, Compas BE, Brooks-Gunn J, Stemmler M, Ey S, Grant KE. 1993. Depression during adolescence. Am. Psychol. 48:155–68
- Petersen AC, Sarigiani PA, Kennedy RE. 1991. Adolescent depression: Why more girls? J. Youth Adol. 20:247-71
- Powers SI, Hauser ST, Kilner LA. 1989. Adolescent mental health. Am. Psychol. 44: 200-8
- Puig-Antich J. 1987. Sleep and neuroendocrine correlates of affective illness in childhood and adolescence. J. Adol. Health Care 8: 505–29
- Quinton D, Rutter M. 1988. Parenting Breakdown: The Making and Breaking of Intergenerational Links. Aldershot, England: Avebury
- Rescorla RA. 1988. Pavlovian conditioning: It's not what you think. Am. Psychol. 43: 151-59
- Richards MH, Larson R. 1993. Pubertal development and the daily subjective states of young adolescents. J. Res. Adol. 3:145–69
- Robins LN. 1985. The epidemiology of anisocial personality. In Psychiatry, ed. JO Cavenar, 3:1-14. Philadelphia: Lippincott
- Robins LN, McEvoy L. 1990. Conduct problems as predictors of substance abuse. See Robins & Rutter 1990, pp. 182–204
- Robins LN, Rutter M, eds. 1990. Straight and Devious Pathways from Childhood to Adulthood. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- Rogers JL, Rowe DC. 1993. Social contagion and adolescent sexual behavior: a developmental EMOSA model. *Psychol. Rev.* 100: 479–510
- Rohde P, Lewinsohn PM, Seeley JR. 1991. Comorbidity of unipolar depression: II. Comorbidity with other mental disorders in adolescents and adults. J. Abnonn. Psychol. 100:214-22
- Rosenthal DA, Feldman SS. 1991. The influence of perceived family and personal factors on self-reported school performance of

Chinese and western high school students. J. Res. Adol. 1:135-54

- Rutter M. 1986. The developmental psychopathology of depression: issues and perspectives. In Depression in Young People: Developmental and Clinical Perspectives, ed. M Rutter, CE Izard, PB Read, pp. 3-30. New York: Guilford
- Rutter M. 1989. Pathways from childhood to adult life. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatr. 30: 23-51
- Rutter M, Rutter M. 1993. Developing Minds: Challenge and Continuity Across the Life Span. New York: Basic Books
- Sameroff AJ, Seifer R, Baldwin AL, Baldwin CA. 1993. Stability of intelligence from preschool to adolescence: the influence of social and family risk factors. *Child Dev.* 64:80–97
- Shelton RC, Hollon SD, Purdon SE, Loosen PT. 1991. Biological and psychological aspects of depression. *Behav. Ther.* 22:201– 28
- Stanger C, Achenbach TM, Verhulst FC. 1994. Accelerating longitudinal research in child psychopathology: a practical example. *Psychol. Assess.* 6:102–7
- Stanger C, Verhulst FC. 1994. Accelerated longitudinal designs. In *The Epidemiology* of *Child and Adolescent Psychopathology*, ed. FC Verhulst, H Koot. London: Oxford Univ. Press. In press
- Steinberg L. 1987. İmpact of puberty on family relations: effects of pubertal status and pubertal timing. Dev. Psychol. 23:451-60
- Steinberg L. 1988. Reciprocal relation between parent-child distance and pubertal maturation. Dev. Psychol. 24:122–28
- Strober M, Morrell W, Burroughs J, Lampert C, Danforth H, Freeman R. 1988. A family study of Bipolar I disorder in adolescence: early onset of symptoms linked to increased familial loading and lithium resistance. J. Affect. Disord. 15:255-68
- Susman E, Dorn LD, Chrousos GP. 1991. Negative affect and hormone levels in young adolescents: concurrent and predictive waves. J. Youth Adol. 20:167–90
- Susman EJ, Inoff-Germain G, Nottelmann ED, Loriaux DL, Cutler GB, Chrousos GP. 1987. Hormones, emotional dispositions, and aggressive attributes in young adolescents. *Child Dev.* 58:1114–34
- Trickett PK, Putnam FW. 1993. Impact of child sexual abuse on females: toward a developmental psychological integration. *Psychol. Sci.* 4:81–87
- United States Congress/Office of Technology Assessment. 1991. Adolescent Health. Vol. 1: Summary and Policy Options (OTA-H-464). Washington, DC: US Gov. Print. Off.
- Wagner BM, Compas BE, Howell DC. 1988. Daily hassles and major life events: a test of an integrative model of psychosocial

stress. Am. J. Commun. Psychol. 16:189-205

- Weissman MM, Bruce ML, Leaf PJ, Florio LP, Holzer C. 1991. Affective disorders. In *Psychiatric Disorders in America*, ed. LN Robins, DA Regier, pp. 53–80. New York: Free
- Windle M, Lerner RM. 1986. The "goodness of fit" model of temperament-context rela-

tions: interaction or correlation? New Dir. Child Dev. 31:109-20

- Windle M, Miller-Tutzauer C, Domenico D. 1992. Alcohol use, suicidal behavior, and risky activities among adolescents. J. Res. Adol. 2:317–30
- Zaslow J, Takanishi R. 1993. Priorities for research on adolescent development. Am. Psychol. 48:185-92

4